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January 30, 2023 
 
The CUNY Institute for State and Local Governance (ISLG) appreciates your interest in the 
Request for Proposals (RFP) for the Neighborhood Navigators initiative.  
 
This addendum includes answers to questions, submitted via email to ISLG by January 14, 2023 
The deadline to submit proposals for proposal review is Tuesday, February 21, 2023, at 11:59 
PM EST. Proposals should be submitted by email, to cjii@islg.cuny.edu with the subject line, 
“Submission – Neighborhood Navigators RFP.”  
 
For more information, please refer to the Request for Proposals, here: 
https://cjii.org/neighborhood-navigators-rfp  
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ANSWER TO APPLICANT QUESTIONS 
 

RFP Neighborhood Navigators Initiative 
 
ADDENDUM: 
 
All proposals accepted by ISLG and DANY will be reviewed to determine whether they are 
responsive or non-responsive to the requirements of this solicitation. Proposals that are 
determined by ISLG and DANY to be non-responsive will be rejected. ISLG and DANY will 
evaluate and rate all qualified and responsive vendors that have expressed interest unless it is 
determined that it is in the best interest to negotiate with fewer vendors.  All proposals will be 
rated based on the Evaluation Criteria set forth in the RFP. This solicitation does not limit ISLG 
and DANY’s right to add or remove tasks and shall be construed only as a solicitation to open 
negotiations for the scope of services, budget, timeline, and other terms of proposed contract(s). 
Additionally, when awarding multiple awards to one organization, ISLG and DANY shall assess 
the organization’s capacity to perform the services across multiple contracts.  
 
ISLG and DANY reserve the right to conduct interviews or site visits and/or to request that 
proposers make presentations and/or demonstrations, as ISLG and DANY deems applicable and 
appropriate. Although ISLG and DANY may enter into discussions with Proposers regarding 
submitted acceptable applications, DANY reserves the right to award contracts on the basis of 
initial proposals received, without discussion; therefore, the Proposers’ submission should 
contain its best pricing and programmatic terms. 
 
 
GENERAL QUESTIONS: 
 
QUESTION: Are CBO's required to have 501(c)(3) status, or are those who are fiscally 
sponsored eligible as well? 

 
ANSWER: Nonprofits and academic institutions are eligible for funding through this 
grant opportunity as lead providers or as funded partners (see V.C Organizational 
Capacity and Experience). The RFP does not require that applicants have 501(c)(3) 
status, and applicants may have a fiscal sponsor. 

 
QUESTION: Can one organization submit multiple proposals? 
 

ANSWER: DANY and ISLG anticipate funding programs in up to 6 neighborhoods, 
with up to $1.4 million in funding available for any single neighborhood program, to be 
spread over three and a half years (including six months of planning and three years of 
implementation) DANY and ISLG reserve the right to fund none, one, or multiple 
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programs, based on the proposals received in response to this RFP. Applicants may 
propose to serve more than one neighborhood but should submit a distinct proposal and 
budget for each neighborhood area to be served.  Proposals should describe each 
neighborhood area and related neighborhood-specific considerations.  A grant of funding 
for one neighborhood program does not guarantee that the applicant will receive 
additional funding for work in additional proposed neighborhoods. (see II.C Anticipated 
Available Funding). 

 
QUESTION: Can a lead program include the same subcontracted agency in two separate 
proposals? 
 

ANSWER: If an organization submits a proposal to serve multiple neighborhoods, it 
may include the same subcontracted agency in each proposal (but is not required to). 

 
QUESTION: Should the timeline and logic model draft be provided as separate 
attachments, or do they count toward the 10-page maximum? 
 

ANSWER: The Program Narrative should be single-spaced using standard 12-point font 
(Times New Roman is preferred) with 1-inch margins, and should not exceed 10 pages 
(excluding appendices and resumes) (see V.B Program Narrative). Applicants should 
provide a timeline that outlines the major milestones of the program and how they align 
with program goals (see V.B.viii Program Implementation Timeline). Applicants will be 
required to develop a logic model with ISLG during the planning period, and may submit 
a draft of that logic model with their application if desired and should be attached to the 
Program Narrative as an appendix and will not count toward the 10-page maximum. 
 

QUESTION: Should the list of partner agencies and described roles requested on page 2 of 
the RFP be provided as a separate attachment, or should it be incorporated into the 10-
page program narrative? 
 

ANSWER: The RFP asks an applicant to describe the lead provider and partners’ history 
of and capacity for serving the focus population, employing staff with shared lived 
experiences with their participants, and providing service navigation (see V.C.i).  In this 
section the applicant can list the partner organization(s) and roles. This section should be 
attached to the Program Narrative as an appendix and will not count against the 10-page 
maximum of the Program Narrative (see V.C). 

 
QUESTION:  Do the letters of intent from partners count toward the 10-page maximum? 

 
ANSWER: This RFP requires proposers to apply in partnership with other 
organization(s) with strong local connections to the neighborhoods to be served. 
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Proposals should specify and be submitted by the primary contractor and project lead. 
Proposals should list and describe the roles of proposed partner agencies, and those 
partner agencies should supply letters of intent (see I.A Goals of RFP). Those letters will 
not count toward the 10-page limit for the program narrative and should be attached as an 
appendix. 

 
PARTNERSHIPS: 
 
QUESTION: Please provide clarity on “partnership”: “This RFP requires proposers to 
apply in partnership with other organization(s) with strong local connections to the 
neighborhoods to be served.” (P. 2). What constitutes a partnership?  Could related 
organizations, that is, two sister organizations with their own 501-c status and EIN 
numbers under a larger umbrella be in “partnership” for purposes of this RFP? 
 

ANSWER: Lead applicants should respond to this solicitation in partnership with other 
community-based organizations that will offer complementary services to those of the 
lead applicant. For example, the partners organization might focus on housing, 
healthcare, or substance use treatment. The partnership plan should include organizations 
already serving the focus population. RFP responses should make clear who the lead 
entity is. Related organizations, each with their own 501(c)(3) status and EIN numbers, 
with existing partnerships may apply as long as there is a clear distinction on who is the 
lead applicant and which is the partner/subcontractor.  The partnership aspect of this 
work is critical because we recognize that one entity cannot serve all needs – building 
partnerships with providers who provide a robust range of services is important to ensure 
that as many participant needs as possible can be met (see III.C Program Description).  

 
 
NEIGHBORHOODS: 
QUESTION: Will an organization only receive priority consideration if they propose 
serving all priority neighborhoods in a particular grouping (e.g., Central Harlem and East 
Harlem as opposed to only East Harlem)? 
 

ANSWER: While proposals aimed at serving any Manhattan neighborhood will be 
considered, proposals serving one or more of the following neighborhoods will be 
prioritized for funding:  
 

a) Lower East Side/Chinatown,  
b) Chelsea/Hell’s Kitchen/Midtown West,  
c) Central/East Harlem, and  
d) Washington Heights/Inwood. 
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Applicants should specify what neighborhood(s) they would focus on and why. Applicants 
proposing to serve more than one neighborhood should include a discussion of each 
neighborhood to be served and the distinct considerations in serving each. DANY and ISLG 
anticipate making no more than one award per neighborhood. (see II. A Purpose of RFP). 
Proposers may choose to define more refined boundaries within their proposal to serve the 4 
general areas listed. 

 
QUESTION: What is the Midtown West service area? 
 

ANSWER: Midtown West generally refers to the western area of midtown Manhattan, 
but we are open to proposals that have different exact borders to their service area.  

 
QUESTION: Does the $1.4 million/neighborhood funding maximum apply to the priority 
neighborhood grouping or to each neighborhood within the grouping (e.g., a $1.4 million 
maximum for a program serving Central and East Harlem vs. a $2.8 million maximum for 
a program serving Central and East Harlem)? 
 

ANSWER:  DANY and ISLG anticipate funding up to $6 million total with up to $1.4 
million in funding for any single neighborhood program, to be spread over three and a 
half years (including six months of planning and three years of implementation). (see II.C 
Anticipated Available Funding).  While proposals aimed at serving any Manhattan 
neighborhood will be considered, proposals serving one or more of the following 
neighborhoods will be prioritized for funding: Lower East Side/Chinatown, 
Chelsea/Hell’s Kitchen/Midtown West, Central/East Harlem, and Washington 
Heights/Inwood (see II. A Purpose of RFP). The funding maximum is up to $1.4 million 
for any single neighborhood program (e.g., Central/East Harlem). 


